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The Raleigh Banking and Trust Company Building, better known as the Raleigh Building, is a 
monumental Neo-Classical Revival style office building prominently situated on the 
southwest corner of West Hargett and Fayetteville streets in Raleigh's downtown commercial 
district. The freestanding eleven-story structure, seven bays wide and three bays deep, faces 
north to the State Capitol Building. Located directly northeast of the Raleigh Building, at the 
corner of West Hargett and Fayetteville streets, is the capital city's first skyscraper, the 1908 
Masonic Temple Building (National Register, 1979). Adjacent to the Raleigh Building's west 
elevation, at 19 West Hargett Street, is the ten-story Commercial Building. Erected between 
1923 and 1924, it was the first tall office building constructed in Raleigh during the 1920s. All 
three of these buildings face the 29-story First Union Building (1989-91) which occupies the 
south end of the block immediately north of the Raleigh Building. Sited at the corner of a busy 
intersection, the Raleigh Building's north and east elevations are fronted by paved cement and 
brick pedestrian walkways. 

The eleven-story Raleigh Building is the only tall office building in North Carolina's capital to 
have been erected in two distinct phases. The first phase consisted of three stories with load­
bearing walls, an interior steel frame, and reinforced concrete floors. The second phase 
consisted of eight floors with a steel frame skeleton and brick veneer walls. The first three 
floors of the building were constructed in 1913 when the Raleigh Banking and Trust Company 
commissioned architect Philip Thornton Marye to design a Neo-Classical style structure for its 
new offices. However, before this building was erected the bank and the architect prepared for 
the future addition of the office floors by putting into place the bottom steel work, reinforced 
concre~e foundation, and masonry load-bearing walls. Fifteen years later, in 1928, the 
architectural and engineering firm of H. A. Underwood Company designed the upper eight 
floors. These were built in 1928-29 by local contractor John W. Hudson, Jr. A massive 
renovation in 1935-36, orchestrated by the Underwood firm, replaced the monumental image 
of the now defunct banking firm's original structure. Since Underwood had been the designer 
of the upper eight floors, he remained sensitive to the 1928 design while supervising the 
refurbishing of the lower three stories giving them a streamlined modern look. The 
remodeling of the building was awarded to the local contractor, John F. Danielson. Thus the 
Raleigh Building as it presently stands is the result of a 1913 design of three floors, an 
additional eight floors in 1928, and a major remodeling of the interior and exterior spaces of 
the original three stories in 1935-36 (see exhibits 2). Since that time, the ornamentation of the 
storefronts has changed periodically, the interiors have been renovated, once in 1961 and 
again in the mid-1980s. The windows were replaced in 1978 by the present owner (William E. 
Wollman, interview with author). 

The slightly L-shaped Raleigh Building is a steel frame and brick veneer tall office building. 
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The buff-colored brick serves to offset the white of the terra cotta ornamental elements and 
aluminum window frames. There is exterior decoration on the north and east elevations, while 
the walls on the south and west (a party wall) are devoid of architectural details. 

The original three stories form the base of the building. The street level is divided into retail 
spaces and passages. Currently there are two stores: the larger of the two is on Fayetteville 
Street and the other is on West Hargett Street. Three entrances allow movement to: 1) the lobby 
of the office building at 5 West Hargett Street; 2) the store at 7 West Hargett Street; and 3) 200 
Fayetteville Street, the other retailer. The second and third stories are offices. 

Marye's original 1913 design had an elevated first story, accessed via stone steps, and was 
ornamented with twelve three-story-high, engaged limestone columns with Ionic capitals. 
Alternating between the bay-defining columns was a pedimented doorway or a pair of floor­
to-ceiling windows at the first story. Metal tracery existed on the second story windows, three 
on each of the street elevations, which lit the two-story tall upper bank lobby. The remaining 
second- and third-story windows were of the "Chicago style": tripartite windows with a wide 
fixed pane in the center and narrower sashes that open on either side. An elaborately 
decorated terra cotta cornice consisted of a rake molding at the base, medallions below and 
above the raised Roman style letters of the bank name, an egg and dart band, modillion 
blocks, surmounted by a projecting rake molding. The recessed terra cotta balustrade which 
served as the roof line was removed when the upper stories were added in 1928-29. 

The building renovations of 1935-36 radically altered the bottom three stories. The columns 
were replaced by prominent three-story tall striated pilasters in buff brick stepped at the top 
with stone coping which provided the building with a Moderne appearance. In addition to the 
pilasters, the decorative metal panels between the second and third floor windows were 
replaced with brick panels which echo the panels on the upper stories. The banking quarters 
on the front of the building were then lowered to street level and converted into a store. On 
the Hargett Street elevation, the stairway lobby entrance was lowered two feet to street level 
and modernized with revolving doors. To the right of the main entrance, the office space was 
remodeled for use as a store. As the first floor of the banking room was reset, a new floor was 
installed, dividing the lobby into two stories. Level with the present mezzanine floor, it is a 
concrete slab on bar joists with pine subflooring (Raleigh Building plans, 1935-36). 

With the lowering of the floors in 1935-36 came the addition of retail space to the street level. 
Underwood's initial design for the storefronts had full-length polished plate glass show 
windows with black Carrera glass bulkheads and friezes, polished aluminum metal trim, and 
show window fittings capped by metal ornamental cresting of the "Kawneer type" (Raleigh 
Building plans, 1935-36). The current Revco storefront elevations are more wall than windows. 
Cream-colored metal wall panels and two red and blue back-lit signs were installed during the 
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summer of 1992. The smaller storefront, at 7 West Hargett Street, has similar colored wall 
panels and has retained a large store window. 

The central section or shaft of the Raleigh Building consists of floors four through nine, and is 
entirely buff-colored brick veneer in a stretcher bond. The replacement Chicago aluminum 
windows of circa 1978 are very similar to the original hollow metal ones with the exception of 
the central window which has a vertically, rather than a horizontally, divided sash. All of the 
original sashes were glazed with polished plate wire glass (Specifications for the Eight Story 
Addition to the Raleigh Banking and Trust Co. Building, 47). The windows are slightly 
recessed in vertical ranks, giving the unbroken walls between the ranks the appearance of 
pilasters. All windows have cast stone sills. In each bay, the walls between the windows have 
panels in stretcher bond. At the fourth floor, the transition from the base to the shaft is evident 
in the cessation of the stepped brick pilasters overlapping the smooth brick of the 1928-29 
design. This feature, combined with the recessed ranks of windows, gives the building the 
appearance of stretching upwards from the base. Situated between the ninth and t.enth floors, 
indicating the end of the shaft and the begirming of the "capital" area, is a narrow terra cotta 
belt course which consists of a rake molding and blocks of reed molding with embossed 
crosses on every fourth block. 

The tenth and eleventh floors of the Raleigh Building are identical in treatment to the shaft. 
The elaborate cornice hugging the north and east rooflines consists of applied medallions and 
rosettes in the frieze, egg and dart molding, large modillion blocks, a molded band and 
anthemion cresting in terra cotta. The cornice is protected by a vitrified salt glazed terra cotta 
pipe coping. Located on the northeast corner of the roof is a forty foot steel flagpole (Raleigh 
Banking and Trust Co. Building plans, 1928-29). 

The bank that originally occupied much of the bottom floors of the building had two 
entrances, one on Fayetteville Street and the other on West Hargett Street. Until 1935, the 
unaltered 1913 bank lobby remained resplendent with Classical details, such as marble 
wainscoting, stone columns, and paneled walls. With the exception of the removal of the 
Walgreen's lunch counter, the two current stores retain most of the floor plan of the 1935-36 
remodeling. The Revco sales floor has five aisles, numerous square support columns, and two 
sales counters. The other store, a copy center, is still one bay wide and extends to the back of 
the building. 

Another entrance, off-center on West Hargett Street, led to a stair lobby with painted plaster 
walls and terrazzo tile floors. On the east side of the lobby, a pair of doors led to the banking 
lobby. To the west of the lobby, a single interior door accessed the smaller retail space, at 7 
West Hargett Street. With the addition of the eight floors, a pair of Haughton elevators were 
installed for $15,000. Between 1929 and 1936, the elevator waiting area was located to the west 
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of the entry stairway. Its ornamentation matched the 1913 entry foyer with details such as 
plaster ceiling cornice, terrazzo tile floors, and a black marble baseboard. In addition, the 
waiting area was enhanced with a brass Cutler mail chute and box and a building directory 
(Raleigh Banking and Trust Co. Building plans, 1928-29). The stairwell original to the 1913 
building is partially intact with a white marble floor, steps and landing, wooden handrails, 
and a painted steel balustrade still existing as main features. 

After the 1935-36 remodeling, the elevator lobby replaced the original stair entry as the 
primary entrance. Pink marble wainscoting from the former bank lobby was reused on the 
elevator foyer walls and remains intact. Currently, the lobby has carpet runners over the 
terrazzo tile floor. Elevator doors, mail box and accents are gleaming brass. The black marble 
baseboard and the plaster ceiling cornice are intact. The five plate glass windows added 
during the 1935-36 remodeling, which permitted either retail establishment to be viewed from 
the new lobby, no longer exist. Since 1984, a triptych on the east side and a diptych on the west 
have enhanced the lobby. The paintings are scenic aerial views of Raleigh and its er:virons by 
artist Robert Irwin (Murray, Raleigh Building file). 

In 1929, the offices on the fourth to tenth floors inclusive had thirteen variably-sized offices 
with the largest measuring 17'-7"x 21'-5" and the smallest measuring 15'-10" x 16'-8". Since 
1945 when the current owners took control of the building, the suites and offices have had 
partitions added to attract and accommodate new businesses. The present office spaces have 
remodeled interiors, the majority of which were completely redone in the mid-1980s. The other 
offices share elements from recent and earlier renovations. Wood and glass doors and metal 
window surrounds are the only surviving details from the 1928-29 building campaign. The 
corridors in the upper eight stories had tile floors, sand finish plaster walls and ceilings, 
painted wood baseboards and molded chair rails. Situated above the chair rails, surrounding 
the wood and glass doors were a transom and side light windows. Today, although the 
hallways are carpeted, paneled, and have acoustical tile ceilings, they remain in their original 
configura tion. 

The location of the Raleigh Building, one block south of the Capitol on the southwest corner of 
the busy Fayetteville and Hargett streets, is one of the premier focal points in the central 
business district of Raleigh. Its relationship to the growth of Raleigh is important in 
understanding its adaptation to the changing business climate. The building retains its 
integrity and remains a viable attribute to the city's urban fabric. The replacement windows 
are virtually identical to the original ones, with the exception of a central vertically divided 
sash and continue the rhythm of the alternating windows and the wall plane. The first floor 
retail storefronts have been altered since the initial occupants moved in in the mid 1930s; this 
is not an uncommon practice. The upper elevations have remained intact since 1929. In the 
quest to capture and retain tenants, the management had the office interiors remodeled in the 
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1960s and again in the 1980s. However, the office spaces and corridors have not been changed. 
The wood and glass doors and window surrounds from the late 1920s add welcome accents to 
the interiors. The 1929 and 1936 elevator lobby's marble walls and tile floors still greet the 
public, while hidden to the foyer's east is the virtually intact 1913 marble and steel stairway. 
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At the southwest corner of Hargett and Fayetteville streets in downtown Raleigh, the Raleigh 
Banking and Trust Company Building, better known as the Raleigh Building, is significant to 
the commercial, architectural, and building engineering history of the city during the early 
twentieth century. The first three stories, comprising the first phase of construction, were 
designed by architect P. Thornton Marye and built in 1913 for the Raleigh Banking and Trust 
Company, then the oldest continuously operating banking institution in Raleigh. In 
anticipation of future additional stories, construction of the the building included massive 
load-bearing masonry and concrete footings, interior steel support beams and concrete 
columns, and reinforced concrete floors and roof. The second phase, consisting of the upper 
eight floors, was designed in September 1928 by the architectural and engineering firm, H. A. 
Underwood Company. The addition was constructed in 1928 to 1929 by the local firm of John 
W. Hudson, Jr. at a cost of $275,000. A renovation in 1935-36, coordinated by the Underwood 
Company, replaced the original Neo-Classical Revival style design of the original three stories 
with distinctive Moderne elements compatible with the design of the upper eight stories. The 
Raleigh Building is a significant reminder of the city's early twentieth century commercial 
prosperity. For example, tenants of the building immediately after it was enlarged included 
two of the region's most influential utility companies, the Carolina Power and Light Company 
and the Yadkin River Power Company, as well as the Raleigh Banking and Trust Company 
until it failed in 1930. Before and after the 1928-29 expansion, health care professionals, 
accountants, insurance agents and lawyers occupied the upper floors. As a tall office building, 
the Raleigh Building represents an important building type which is indicative of both 
engineering advances and architectural design solutions as well as the commercial activity that 
generated these buildings. The Raleigh Building adheres to the classic or Chicago school 
approach to design in that the base, shaft, and capital formula are exhibited. It is significant as 
the only Raleigh example of the transition from the Neo-Classical Revival style to the Moderne 
style. Lastly, the building is equally significant as Raleigh's only tall office building erected in 
two phases. 
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The origins of the Raleigh Banking and Trust Company in Raleigh date to September 12, 1865, 
when the Raleigh National Bank of North Carolina was founded. C. H. Belvin was the initial 
president of this banking concern, the first in the capital and the second in the state to open 
after the end of the Civil War. For a short time, temporary headquarters were situated in one of 
the store buildings on the east side of the 100 block of Fayetteville Street. By 1868, the 
southwest corner of Hargett and Fayetteville streets had become the permanent home of the 
bank (Elizabeth R. Murray, 575; and Steven Stolpen, 96). 

The first bank was a brick, two-and-one-half-story, flat-roofed, Italianate style structure which 
had a raised corner entrance and two-over-two, double hung sash windows with segmental 
arches. It eventually became known as the "Round Steps Bank" due to its semi-circular steps 
which led to the bank's main entryway. A 1910 Chamber of Commerce publication estimated 
that the bank's resources at the time amounted to about three quarters of a millio~ dollars 
(Stolpen, 96). This building served the institution's officers and Raleigh's citizenry until 1913, 
w hen the second bank was constructed. 

In 1913, the old structure was razed and a three-story, Neo-Classical Revival style bank was 
built atop its foundation. The new building had brick and limestone exterior walls, twelve 
three-story tall engaged limestone columns with Ionic capitals and, at the roofline, a massive 
terra cotta cornice and balustrade. In anticipation of future growth, the building was fitted 
with concrete and masonry footings, interior reinforced steel I-beams and concrete columns, 
and reinforced concrete roof and floors (Sanborn Map, 1914 and News and Observer, July 29, 
1928). The building was designed by Philip Thornton Marye. Marye (1872-1935) was born in 
Virginia, educated in the north, and settled in Atlanta, Georgia. In 1911 he arrived in Raleigh 
with commissions for two buildings, the ten-story Commercial National Bank (destroyed) and 
the City Hall and Auditorium (destroyed). In the following two years Marye designed a third 
bank building, the eleven-story Citizens National Bank, 1913 (destroyed), and two government 
structures, the Ruffin Building, 1913, and the Wake County Courthouse, 1915 (destroyed) 
(Harris and Lee, 30, 215; and Murray, Raleigh Building file). 

In 1928, the officers and directors of the Raleigh Banking and Trust Company decided the 
economy and location were well suited for the construction of an additional eight floors to 
house offices for speculative rental. Architect Harrison Aubrey Underwood, of H.A. 
Underwood Architects and Engineers Company, drew the plans for a tall office building which 
repeated some of the existing bank's Neo-Classical details such as an elaborate terra cotta 
cornice, ornamental masonry panels above and below the windows, and light fixtures above 
the third floor cornice which were very similar to the entrance level apparatus. 
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It is Mr. Underwood's engineering knowledge that defines the structural success of the Raleigh 
Building. Even though the 1913 building had been fortified with steel, it could not have 
sustained the extra load of eight additional floors. In order to support these additional stories, 
it was necessary to create new footings for the existing steel supports, reinforce the original 
concrete columns with steel rods, and to use many various-sized steel columns, girders, and 
spandrels throughout the skeleton frame of the addition (Raleigh Banking & Trust Co. 
Building plans, 1928-29). The general contracting firm of John W. Hudson, Jr. submitted a 
summarized estimate to the Bankers Realty Company of $275,000 dollars. Accompanying the 
estimate was a three-page document delineating alterations to the architect's plans. Some of 
the cost-reducing changes included the replacement of expensive materials with cheaper ones. 
For example, face brick replaced limestone, pine was substituted for white oak interior trim 
work, and metal toilet partitions for marble. The document and the contract were signed on 
November 13, 1928 and construction began shortly thereafter. 

By early September 1929, the new Raleigh Banking and Trust Company Building ':Vas 
completed. On the morning of September IS, 1929, this occurrence was duly noted by the 
editor of the Raleigh newspaper: 

The completion of the beautiful eleven story building of the Raleigh 
Banking and Trust Company, the oldest banking concern in the Capital 
City, adds to the impressiveness of the Raleigh skyline. It is a building that 
adds to the facilities of that institution with a great history and growing 
clientele and also adds to the beauty of the city. (liThe Raleigh Sky Line", 
News and Observer, page 4) 

In 1930, Raleigh's newest skyscraper was occupied by insurance companies, building 
contractors, lawyers, an accounting firm, a chiropractor, a dentist, a tailor, and a wholesale hay 
distributor. The first, second, third, and fourth floors were rented by Carolina Power and Light 
Company while the tenant of the entire eleventh floor was the State Industrial Commission 
(1930 Raleigh City Directory). 

The Stock Market Crash of 1929 and the Great Depression that plagued America during the 
1930s brought a halt to Raleigh's prosperity. No other industry suffered more during the 1930s 
in Raleigh than banking. 

In 1920 there were eight locally owned and operated banks in the city. From 1921 until 1929, 
resources and activities in the banks continued to climb. At the end of 1927, the total amount 
of North Carolina's state bank resources was $338,892,000, then the highest on record. After 
learning of this promising figure, Raleigh Banking and Trust Company officers assumed that 
conditions would remain favorable and proceeded to undertake the planned second phase of 
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construction. Throughout the state, the number of bank failures spurted from only 8 in 1927, to 
13 in 1928,29 in 1929, and 101 banks in the process of liquidation in 1930 (Witherspoon, 58). In 
the daylight hours of September 15, 1930, on the first anniversary of the completion of the tall 
office building, the Raleigh Banking and Trust Company failed with a deposit liability of 1.5 
million dollars. Between 1931 and 1933 the largest stockholder and bank president, William B. 
Drake, was indicted and acquitted twice for embezzlement and false reports on ten counts. 
During that same time, the Page Trust Company served as the liquidating agent for the 
defunct bank. The Raleigh Banking and Trust Company Building, which had been financed by 
the Bankers Realty Company, a subsidiary of the bank, fell into receivership in 1932 to 
Lawrence E. Blanchard, a local financier and rental agent (News and Observer, March 8, 1932 
and Raleigh City Directory, 1930). The former bank building went up for public sale on 
February 10, 1934, and was sold to the highest bidder, The Massachusetts Mutual Life 
Insurance Company, (MMLICo.) for $365,000 (Wake Deeds, Book 663, page 277). 

Just one year later, renovations to the base of the building were scheduled to begin. The 
MMLICo. had commissioned the architect H. A. Underwood, the designer of the 1928-29 
addition. His new plans called for the removal of the third floor terra cotta cornice and the 
limestone columns and the lowering of the basement and the first floor. The entrance steps 
were removed and the bank lobby was stripped of its marble wainscoting and paneled walls. 
Its lofty two-story-high bank lobby was horizontally divided by a suspended ceiling and the 
resulting new second-story space was converted to offices. The former bank space was made 
into first-floor retail space surrounded on the north and east walls by plate glass storefront 
windows. Other exterior changes included the addition of revolving doors to the office 
building's lobby entrance, twelve three-story-high striated brick piers with stone caps, new 
Chicago style windows for the second and third stories, and brick panels above the storefront 
and windows. The construction contract was awarded to local builder John F. Danielson 
(News and Observer, February 19, 1935, page 14 and Raleigh Building plans, 1935-36). 

In 1936, the remodeled Raleigh Building, stripped of its banking ostentation, had a diverse 
base of tenants. The State Industrial Commission continued to lease the eleventh story. Floors 
two through five and additional seventh floor offices were rented by the U. S. Treasury 
Department and the U. S. Works Progress Administration of North Carolina. Other renters 
included insurance companies, law firms, state government offices, accountants, cotton 
brokers, a road contractor, and a mercantile agency (Raleigh City Directory, 1936). 

Several years later, in 1942, the Raleigh Building was promoted as being the premier 
downtown location for business activity (see Exhibit 3). The building had two retail stores, the 
Chicago-based Walgreen drug store chain and Adler's Children Shop, while the office spaces 
of the upper floors were leased to insurance companies, accounting firms, and lawyers 
(Raleigh City Directory, 1943). 
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On June 19, 1945, the Raleigh Building was sold to Raleigh Office Building, Inc. for $350,000 
(Wake Deeds, Book 921, page 549). Six weeks later, on July 30, 1945, the building was sold for 
the same amount to the partnership of Katz, Heyman, and Wollman (Wake Deeds, Book 925, 
page 378). For nearly fifty years, the building has remained under the same ownership, has 
been well maintained, and has continued to be occupied by retail stores on the ground level 
and small and large business firms above. 

~=~~~ Commerce, Engineering Contexts 

Harrison Aubrey Underwood, the architect of the Raleigh Building, arrived in Raleigh in the 
1910s and by 1920 was the secretary-treasurer for the Raleigh Engineering and Construction 
Company, Inc. (Raleigh City Directory, 1920). In the mid-1920s Underwood associated himself 
with local builder, C. V. York. They worked together on the ten-story, $750,000 Sir Walter Hotel 
(1925) (National Register, 1978) on Fayetteville Street. In 1928-29, Underwood designed and 
constructed another costly hotel, the Hotel Carolina Building, at 232 West Hargett Street, just 
north of Nash Square. During the Recovery era, Underwood designed two of Raleigh's garden 
apartment complexes, the Cameron Court Apartments (1938) at 817 Hillsborough Street and 
the Raleigh Apartments (1938) at 1020 West Peace Street (H. A. Underwood, III, interview by 
author; Raleigh City Directory, 1929; and Vickers, 130). 

The origin of the tall office building emerged as an architectural form over a century ago in 
Chicago and New York. The first great architect to give serious thought to the form of the 
office building was Louis H. Sullivan, a Boston native who lived in Chicago. By utilizing the 
recently introduced riveted and wind-braced steel frame structural system, Sullivan developed 
a style characterized by office floors of uniform plan and elevation, supported on a base of 
larger scale, and crowned by a distinctive attic story. For almost half a century Sullivan's 
approach was the archetype for tall building design as architects searched for an appropriate 
architectural expression of the steel frame and added mechanical and electrical amenities to 
the interior (Sitzenstock 146; and Condit, 178). 

Between 1900 and the advent of World War I, the composition of Raleigh's urban section 
fluctuated as city leaders sought to mould the image of the capital city of North Carolina. In 
1903 alone, sixty-five buildings were under construction worth a total value of $300,000. 
Professionals such as educators, attorneys, physicians, and entrepreneurs were enticed to the 
city as growth in commerce, health care and education increased. New office buildings of 
seven and ten stories such as the 1908 Masonic Temple (National Register, 1979) and the 1913 
Commercial National Bank buildings, began to tower above the nineteenth century two- and 
three-story stores downtown. Raleigh's residential growth was rapid as the population rose in 
1920 to 24,418 persons, an increase of 10,775 from 13,643 in 1900 or sixty-eight percent (Ross, 
13). 



NPS Form 1 O~900-a 
(8-86) 

""""''Il'I ..... .". number _8 __ 6 

OMB Approval No. 1024-0018 

Raleigh Building 
Wake County, North Carolina 

Thus the stage was set for entrepreneurs to capitalize on the development opportunities 
offered by a move to the city. Although tall office buildings were highly visible in a city where 
two- and three-story structures were the norm, they were also very costly. Only wealthy 
entrepeneurs or ambitious companies, often banks, could afford to build structures of seven or 
more stories. In Raleigh, seven tall commercial buildings were erected between 1923 and 1930. 
Of this group, five were office buildings and four are known to have been developed by 
entrepreneurs and banking institutions. The ten-story Odd Fellows Building, better known as 
the Commerce Building, 1923, 19 West Hargett Street, was sponsored by a group of 
entrepreneurs; the eight-story Professional Building (National Register, 1983), 1925, 123-127 
West Hargett Street, was developed by Wachovia Bank and Trust Company; and the Capital 
Club Building (National Register, 1985), 1929-30, 16 West Martin Street was financed by a 
philanthropic organization. 

Several of these tall buildings from the early years of the twentieth century remain today: 

• The seven-story, Classical style Masonic Temple (National Register, 1979) on the northeast 
corner of Fayetteville and Hargett streets. Built in 1908, this structure is significant as 
Raleigh's first Chicago style tall office building and as the first structure to utilize the 
advanced technology of steel reinforced concrete (Harris and Lee, 30). 

• The ten-story Commercial Building (1923-1924) at 19 West Hargett Street. 

• The ten-story Sir Walter Hotel (National Register, 1978) at 400-412 Fayetteville Street. 

• The eight-story Professional Building (National Register, 1983), 123-127 West Hargett 
Street, built in 1925. 

• The eight-story Lawyers Building, erected in 1926 at 320 South Salisbury Street. 

• The eleven-story Raleigh Banking and Trust Company Building, completed in 1929. 

• The twelve-story Capital Club Building (National Register, 1985) at 16 West Martin Street 
opened for business on November 14, 1930 (Vickers, 102). 

All of the 1920s buildings share similar features such as steel frames with masonry curtain 
walls and the application of stylistic treatment in the manner of the Sullivan or Chicago style 
whereby the building has a base, shaft, and capital. The Commerce Building next door to the 
Raleigh Building and the Professional Building one block to the west have Neo-Classical 
Revival stylistic elements whereby both structures display terra cotta ornamentation in almost 
equal proportions with the simple brick curtain walls. The Capital Club Building with its Art 
Deco detail and ornamentation was completed a year after the Raleigh Banking and Trust 
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In the capital city, the Raleigh Building is unique as the only tall office building which 
underwent a stylistic metamorphosis. Beginning in 1913 the bank was a three-story, Neo­
Classical Revival style building. The upper elevations which were added fifteen years later 
embody a gradual departure from the classical revival styles. Void of any nonessential detail 
with the exception of an elaborate cornice, the Raleigh Building appeased the conservative 
bank officers. Six years later, the same architect stripped away the outdated Neo-Classical 
Revival details of the lower three floors and replaced them with Moderne style elements. 
During the remodeling, a taller office building was under construction, and when completed 
in 1942 it was the best articulated example of the Moderne style in Raleigh. The fifteen-story 
Durham Insurance Building, 336 Fayetteville Street, was designed by Northup and O'Brien. 
Thus, the Raleigh Building is the only example of a tall office building which represents the 
transition between the Neo-Classical and Moderne styles in Raleigh, North Carolina. 

The modern system of skeleton frame construction removed the eight- to ten-story height 
limitation of the bearing wall construction. The practical surety of expansion and increased 
land values resulted in many buildings being erected with foundations and columns designed 
to support future additional stories. This practice occurred in anticipation that zoning laws 
restricting height would be amended to allow increased building heights. While it is not 
known how many other early low-rise buildings in Raleigh may have been built with extra­
heavy-duty support in anticipation of additional stories, the Raleigh Building is the only 
example of the realization of such plans. The original three-story Raleigh Banking and Trust 
Company Building constructed in 1913 was designed as a three-story building with load­
bearing exterior walls, an interior structural frame of steel I-beams and concrete columns, and 
floor slabs of reinforced concrete. When the decision was made to enlarge the structure in 1928, 
the building plans specified the use of steel columns above the 1913 steel I-beams and 
lightweight concrete for the floor slabs and fireproofing. Because the original structure could 
not sustain the additional load, it was necessary to create new and larger footings for the 
existing steel supports, reinforce the original concrete columns with steel rods, and to use 
many variously sized steel columns, girders, and spandrels throughout the skeleton frame of 
the addition. When the addition was completed, the building was hailed more for its 
engineering rather than its architectural design (North, 613). 
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